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IN THE UNITED STATESDISTRICT COURT
FOR THE NORTHERN DISTRICT OF ILLINOIS
EASTERN DIVISION
|ORDANKA KISSIOVA,
Plaintiff, CaseNo. 15 C 9812
V. Judge Joan B. Gottschall

BAYVIEW LOAN SERVICING, LLC,

N N N N N N N N N

Defendant.

MEMORANDUM OPINION AND ORDER

Bayview Loan Servicing, LLC (“Bayviewhas moved to dismiss plaintiff lordanka
Kissiova’s (“Kissiova’s”) amended complaint. &lsomplaint does a poor job of articulating its
theories and frequently fails to cite gowig statutes, immensetonfusing given the
complexities (and countless sections) of the lemwslved. The court has done its best but if it
misconstrues the arguments, the affepiady should move foreconsideration.

Plaintiff's original complaint was dismséed on Bayview’s motion based on mootness.
Bayview was servicing Kissiol@home mortgage loannd when Kissiova experienced
financial hardship, Bayview filed a mortgage fdosure action against him the Circuit Court
of Cook County. Kissiova’s original complaint svhased on Bayview’s failure to give her a
loan modification, but shortly after her filinthe parties entered into a loan modification
agreement and Bayview dismissed the foreclosure case.

In her response to Bayview’s motion to dismiss the loan modification case, Kissiova
made new arguments which took the recent hnadification into account. As this was
improper (plaintiff cannot amend her complaint bigiray new claims in response to a motion to

dismiss), Kissiova was given leave to amend. The court stated: tig doj [Kissiova] should
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consider what effect the loan modification loasher ability to pursurward-looking relief
based on the approximately two-month gap leetwher submission of the last TPP payment
[“Trial Period Plan” in anticipation of emortgage modification] on September 1, 2105, and
Bayview Loan’s November 6, 2015 letter offering gpermanent loan mdatiation.” (Order of
June 28 at 3-4).

In her amended complaint, Kissiova doespieaad any injury based on the delay in
entering into the modification agreemedmtt complains instead about a $3,247.50 “corporate
advance” fee listed as a chageher new post-modification mortgage statement. Her amended
complaint asserts four claims based on this féeunt | is titled “Misr@resentation” and claims
that Bayview violated state law when it falseépresented that Kissiova owed the corporate
advance fee; Kissiova alleges she was damatedugh adverse credieporting and having to
incur filings [sic] fees, expenses, costs and othesf Count Il attempts to allege a violation of
the federal Fair Debt Collection Practiced, 15 U.S.C. §1692-1692p (“FDCPA”), claiming
that Bayview was a debt collector and engagealfalse representation of the amount of
Kissiova’'s debt when it told Kissiova she owRayview the corporate advance fee; Kissiova
similarly claims that she was damaged “throagkerse credit reporntyy and having to incur
filings [sic] fees, expenses, costs and other fe€alnt 11l attempts to allege a violation of the
lllinois Consumer Fraud Act, claiming that Bayview engaged in deceptive practices prohibited
under the Fair Debt Collection Practices Act witdnld Kissiova she owed “a nonexistent debt
known as a ‘Corporate Advance’ fee,” a statenvemnich Bayview knew to be false; Kissiova
again alleges she “suffered damages through asleeeslit reporting and having to incur filings
[sic] fees, expenses, costs and other fees.” Qduattempts to allege an unspecified violation

of the Fair Credit Reporting Act (“FCRA”)patending that Bayview “violated the Fair Credit



Reporting Act when it inaccurately reported Kissiagadelinquent for her refusal to pay the
‘Corporate Advance’ fee”; agaiKissiova alleges that she w@amaged through adverse credit
reporting.

Bayview argues that Kissiova’s ameddmmplaint represents theory-switching,
improper given the scope of the court’s ordenvailhy her to amend. As much as the court in
inclined to think what Kissiova has dodg®uld be against the rules (fone thing, it avoids the
assessment of a new filing fee for what is esaliynt new case), Bayview has cited no authority
in support of its argument and the court is avedneone. Therefore, theourt is compelled to
conclude that this argument has been waivgs, e.g., Formellav. Brennan, 817 F.3d 503, 514
(7th Cir. 2016).

PREEMPTION

Bayview argues that the FCRA preempiy atate law (statutory or common law) that
attempts to regulate the duty of companied grovide consumer information to credit
bureaus . . ."See Galper v. JP Morgan Chase Bank. 802 F.3d 437, 441 (2d Cir. 2015). Plaintiff
“admits that her state law claims stemming frimaccurate credit reportjnare preempted by the
FCRA” but argues that “her state law claims stemming from damages incurred as a result of the
‘corporate advance feare not preempted because those damages do not stem from the
inaccurate credit reporting.” The court finds thigument perplexing to say the least, since each
of Kissiova’s claims alleges a czal relationship between these ssuthat as a result of the
wrongfully assessed corporate adea fee, she was damaged by inaate credit rgorting. It is
unclear what injury Kissiova is complaining about other than injury caused by inaccurate credit

reporting.



The Seventh Circuit addressed the preemption issReraell v. Bank of America, 659
F.3d 622 (¥ Cir. 2011). Purcell filed a complaint ajieg that Bank of America wrongfully told
credit agencies that Purcell was behind ipmpants on a loan, raigjy federal and state law
claims. The Seventh Circuit held that FCRA&emption applies to both state common and
statutory law, and that the narrow class @gmpted laws covered B1681h(e) coexists with
the wider ambit of preemption prioked for in 81681t(b)(1)(F)ld. at 625. That latter section
explicitly preempts state law claims regutatimatters covered by 81681s-2, “relating to the
responsibilities of personshe furnish information to consumer reporting agenciésircell
involved an allegedly false s&hent relating to a mortgagealothat Bank of America, a
furnisher of information to credit reporting ages, provided to thossgencies, causing injury
to Purcell. The court sees litdifference between the situationRorcell and that in the case at
bar, and the Seventh Circuit'saigion that Purcell’s state lawatins were preempted dictates a
similar result here.

The court must therefore dismiss Kissiovstate law claims (Counts | and 1l1). If
Kissiova believes she can allege a claim thaibt preempted by the FCRA, she may amend
within 30 days.

PRIVATE RIGHT OF ACTION

Bayview argues for the first time in ieply Brief that Count 1V of the amended
complaint, purporting to allege a violationtbE FCRA, must be disssed because the FCRA
does not provide for a private right of actidBince Kissiova has provideno statutory citation
for her FCRA claim, it is difficult to be certaof what statute she is relying on and what its
limitations are, although she asserts in her RespBriskthat Bayview violated §1681s-2(a)(2).

Response at 13. It is well-eslished that 81681s-2(a) does natyade a private right of action.



Gulley v. Pierce & Associates, 2010 WL 5060257 (N.D. lll. Bc. 6, 2010), at *4 (“Section
1681s-2(a) establishes the ‘dutyfafnishers of information to provide accurate information.’. . .
This section does not provide faprivate right of action by asasumer against a furnisher of
information like U.S. Bank”) (citations omittedjchlotfeldt v. Wells Fargo Home Mortgage,

Inc., 2016 WL 406341, *3 (N.D. Ill. Feb. 3, 2016).(* . section 1681s-2(a) does not provide a
private right of action by a consumer against a furnisher . . . .").

15 U.S.C. 81681s-2(b), to the contrary, slpeovide for a private right of actiorsee
hlotfeldt, supra at *3. 15 U.S.C. 81681s-2(b) is triggd, however, only when a furnisher has
been provided with notice by a CRA of aplite pursuant to section 1681i(a)(3e Gulley,
supra at *4. The court has found no allegation tBayview was given the required notice.
Accordingly, whether because there is no priveglet of action or because Kissiova has failed to
fulfill the requirements for stang a private cause of actio@punt 1V is dismissed.

In dismissing this count, é¢hcourt repeats that Bayview radsthe private right of action
issue only in its response brigfying Kissiova no opportunity teespond. If Kissiova believes
the court has made an error in holding either shathas no private rightf action or she has not
fulfilled the requirements for stating a private tigh action, she should request reconsideration.

COUNT II: FAIRDEBT COLLECTION PRACTICESACT

Count Il of Kissiova’s amended complaistorought under the Fair Debt Collection
Practices Act, 15 U.S.C. 881692-1692p (“FDCPAK)ssiova alleges thd@ayview was a debt
collector who engaged in the falspresentation of the amounttbe alleged debt owed to it by
Kissiova, specifically, stating to Ksiova that she owed Bayvidiae corporate advance fee.

Bayview asserts, correctly as this seems tKibsiova’s habit, that Kissiova has failed to

allege which section of the FDCPA she claimg\Bew violated. Presumably, Kissiova believes



the defense and the court should read the engéitetstand try to figure owthat her theory is.
This is wholly improper, and the court will notexhpt to come up with a theory for her. In her
response brief, however, she cites 15 U.S.C. 89(hat section is not much help, however,
given that it is a definition dfabusive practices,” not a deguion of a cause of action.

Bayview invites the court tstudy the legislative history, agll as an out-of-circuit case,
to reach the conclusion that Bayview is not a @eliector, inasmuch asissiova’s debt was not
in default when Bayview acquired it. Plafhresponds by attaching a copy of Bayview’s
Complaint to Foreclose Mortgagendaasks the court to take judithotice of the fact that the
debt was in default as of February 1, 2014hattime when Bayview acquired the debt. Bayview
argues that the relevant portiontbé exhibit does nastablish what Kissiova claims it does.

The court is not inclined tiake judicial notice of an unghenticated copy of a document
attached as an exhibit to atiom. Nor is the court inclinetb try to follow the parties’
arguments when they have not even cited tgdrgons of the exhibit their arguments rely on.
If plaintiff wishes to allegénformation found in the Mortgadgeoreclosure Complaint, plaintiff
should do so in an amended pleagditogether with pin citationt® the portion of the exhibit on
which she relies. That approach will obviate groblems Bayview raisés its reply brief,
besides giving the court much needed guigain following the parties’ arguments.

Count Il is thus dismissed withave to replead within 30 days.

CONCLUSION

Counts | and Il are dismissed because treypreempted by the FCRA. Count IV is
dismissed because either the relevant statute provides no private cause of action or because
plaintiff has failed to allege the requiremenéxessary to state ayate cause of action.

Count Il is dismissed with leave to replead.



Plaintiff is cautioned to makelear at all times the statuy section on which she relies
and to make sure that she has a Rule 11 f@sisy allegations. Should the court confront
another motion to dismiss, all arguments superficially presented will be deemed waived. These

issues are complex, and the court wdk do the parties’ research for them.

Date: March 8, 2017 /sl
Jban B. Gottschall
UnitedStatedistrict Judge




